



의학석사 학위논문

요관 내시경 수술에서 탐스로신의 요관 확장 및 요관 부목 관련 증상 완화에 미치는 영향: 이중 맹검, 무작위 배정, 위약 대조군 연구

Effect of Perioperative Tamsulosin on Successful Ureteral Access Sheath Placement and Stent-Related Symptom Relief: A Double-Blinded, Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Study

> 울산대학교대학원 의 학 과 남경현

요관 내시경 수술에서 탐스로신의 요관 확장 및 요관 부목 관련 증상 완화에 미치는 영향: 이중 맹검, 무작위 배정, 위약 대조군 연구

지도교수 박 형 근

이 논문을 의학석사 학위 논문으로 제출함

2024 년 2 월

울산대학교대학원

의 학 과

남 경 현

남경현의 의학석사학위 논문을 인준함

심사위원	홍 준 혁	인
심사위원	박 형 근	인
심사위원	서준교	인

울산대학교대학원

2024 년 2 월

Abstract

Purpose

This study aimed to investigate the effect of taking tamsulosin prior to surgery on the successful insertion of a 14 French (F) ureteral access sheath (UAS) during the procedure, as well as the impact of pre- and post-operative tamsulosin use on symptoms related to the ureteral stent.

Materials and Methods

This study was a randomized, single-center, double-blinded, placebocontrolled trial of 200 patients undergoing retrograde intrarenal surgery. Patients received either tamsulosin (0.4 mg) or placebo from 1 week before the surgery until stent removal. The patients were randomly assigned to one of four groups: Group 1 received tamsulosin throughout the entire study period, Group 2 received tamsulosin before surgery and placebo after surgery, Group 3 received placebo before surgery and tamsulosin after surgery, and group 4 took placebo before and after surgery. The Ureteral Stent Symptoms Questionnaire was completed between postoperative days 7 and 14 just before the stent removal.

Results

In total, 160 patients were included in the analysis. Their mean age was 55.0 \pm 11.0 years, and 48 (30.0%) were female. In the group receiving pre-operative tamsulosin, the success rate of 12/14F UAS deployment was significantly higher

compared to the pre-operative placebo group (88.0 vs. 75.3%, p=0.038). Pre- and post-operative tamsulosin use did not significantly alleviate symptoms related to the ureteral stent.

Conclusions

These results revealed that pre-operative administration of tamsulosin improved the success of larger-sized UAS, while pre- and post-operative tamsulosin use did not significantly alleviate symptoms related to ureteral stents.

Keywords: adrenergic alpha-antagonists; tamsulosin; ureteroscopy; lower urinary tract symptoms

Contents

Abstracti
Contentsiii
List of Tablesiv
List of Figuresv
Introduction1
Materials and Methods2
1. Study design2
2. Selection criteria2
3. Randomization and patient grouping2
4. Assessments and follow-up
5. Outcomes4
6. Surgical technique4
7. Statistical analysis5
Results
Discussion
Conclusions11
References
Tables
Figures
Supplementary Appendix
Korean Abstract

List of Tables

Table 1. Demographics and pre-operative parameters 16
Table 2. Perioperative parameters and surgical outcomes 17
Table 3. Comparison of outcomes between pre-operative tamsulosin and placebo
groups 18
Table 4. USSQ score at the time of stent removal 19

List of Figures

Figure 1. Study protocol	20
Figure 2. CONSORT diagram	21
Figure 3. Comparison of USSQ scores among the four groups	22

Introduction

Ureteral access sheath (UAS), first introduced by Takayasu and Aso in 1974, has been widely used during ureteroscopic surgery [1]. UAS facilitates repeated access to the upper tract, reduces intrarenal pressure, and provides better vision, which is an essential part of surgery [2]. Also, it has been demonstrated that larger-sized UAS is associated with higher irrigation flow in vitro [3], and it proved to be more efficient in removing larger-sized stones in vivo [4].

However, the use of UAS can reduce the blood flow and cause ischemic damage to the ureter [5], and it can also lead to ureteral wall injury [6]. Also, the risk of high-grade ureteral wall injury is higher in patients with larger-sized UAS [7]. Recent retrospective studies have reported that preoperative administration of tamsulosin aids the deployment of larger-sized UAS [8, 9]. Tamsulosin is an alpha 1A and 1D receptor antagonist that causes the relaxation of ureteral smooth muscles, and this muscle relaxant effect might help the insertion of UAS [10]. However, prospective data on this matter are limited.

Alpha blockers are also frequently used after ureteroscopic surgery to alleviate symptoms related to ureteral stents; however, there is still an ongoing debate about their efficacy [11-14]. Although commonly used in the field of urolithiasis, ureteral stents have a negative impact on the quality of life.

This study aimed to investigate the effect of tamsulosin prior to surgery on the successful insertion of larger-sized UAS in a prospective manner, as well as pre- and post-operative tamsulosin use on the symptoms related to ureteral stents.

Materials and Methods

Study design

This study was designed as a randomized, single-center, double-blinded, placebocontrolled trial. This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board at Asan Medical Center, Seoul, Republic of Korea (No. 2019-1329) and registered at the Clinical Research Information Service (cris.nih.go.kr; KCT0004394).

Selection criteria

The predefined inclusion criteria were: 1) patients undergoing retrograde intrarenal surgery for unilateral renal stones, 2) between 20 and 80 years old, 3) the sum of the unilateral renal stones between 5 mm and 4 cm, 4) those who voluntarily decided to participate in this clinical study and completed a written informed consent form.

The main predefined exclusion criteria were: 1) patients with a history of ureteral stenosis, 2) patients with a history of using tamsulosin, calcium channel blockers, or steroids within the last 4 weeks, 3) patients with a ureteral stent inserted before surgery. More detailed information about the trial inclusion and exclusion criteria is provided in Supplementary Appendix 1.

Randomization and patient grouping

The participants were randomly assigned to groups 1 to 4 in a 1:1:1:1 ratio. A computer program based on a random number generator was used for randomization. The

patients, investigators, and treating clinicians were unaware of the group assignments until the time of the primary analysis.

Based on the group, the patients received either tamsulosin 0.4 mg or placebo (which were identical in appearance) 1 week before the surgery. After the surgery, the patients took tamsulosin 0.4 mg or placebo until the removal of the ureteral stent, which was done between postoperative day 7 and 14. Group 1 (G1) received tamsulosin pre- and post-operatively. Group 2 (G2) took tamsulosin before the surgery and placebo after the surgery. Group 3 (G3) took placebo before the surgery and tamsulosin after the surgery. Group 4 (G4) received placebo during the whole study period. After the surgery, all participants were given a prescription for 350mg of morniflumate and exclusively used morniflumate along with test drugs for pain control, refraining from any other medications such as anticholinergics.

Assessments and Follow-up

On the day of enrollment, baseline patient characteristics, including age, sex, laboratory data, urinalysis, urine culture, plain radiography (kidney-ureter-bladder), and CT scans were obtained. The Korean version of the validated Ureteral Symptoms Score Questionnaire (USSQ) was used to measure the symptoms due to ureteral stents. All patients were asked to fill out the urinary domain of the USSQ at baseline before the placement of the ureteral stent.

Follow-up visits were made between 7 to 14 days after the surgery. On that day, USSQ scores were measured, and then the ureteral stent was removed. The second follow-up visit took place between one to two months after the surgery, and radiographic assessment was conducted using CT scans and plain radiography (Figure 1).

Outcomes

The primary outcome was the rate of successful deployment of the 12/14 French (F) UAS. Need for balloon dilation, UAS size less than 12/14F, or ureteral stenting alone were considered as failures. Other outcomes included ureteral injury during the surgery, operative time, stone-free rate, adverse events related to tamsulosin, and symptoms related to ureteral stents assessed by the patient-reported USSQ score.

The success rate of 12/14F UAS insertion, ureteral injury, operative time, and stonefree rate were compared between groups who took tamsulosin before the surgery (preoperative tamsulosin group; group 1 and group 2) and groups who took placebo before the surgery (pre-operative placebo group; group 3 and group 4). The ureteral injury was classified with regard to the post-ureteroscopic lesion scale (PULS) [15]. Stone-free status was defined as either absence of stones or clinically insignificant residual fragments (diameters less than 4mm) on follow-up CT scans.

Surgical technique

The surgery was performed by a single experienced surgeon. Patients were placed in the lithotomy position and underwent general anesthesia. A retrograde pyelogram was performed to identify the presence of ureteric strictures and the location of the stone. 12/14F UAS insertion was first tried on all patients. If it failed, the size of the UAS was stepped down to 11/13F, and then 10/12F. If the placement of a 10/12F UAS failed, either balloon dilation or ureteral stenting alone was performed based on the decision of the surgeon. Once the UAS was inserted, flexible ureteroscopy was conducted. Stone fragmentation was performed with a holmium laser, and stone retrieval was conducted with a basket. At the end of the surgery, the presence of any ureteral injury was carefully checked, and the ureteral stent was inserted.

Statistical analysis

Continuous variables are expressed in mean and standard deviation. Baseline patient characteristics were compared using analysis of variance for continuous variables and chi-square tests for categorical variables.

The success rate of 12/14F UAS, ureteral injury, operative time, and stone-free rate were compared between the pre-operative tamsulosin groups (G1+G2) and the pre-operative placebo groups (G3+G4). Chi-squared tests were used to compare these variables. As for the USSQ score, analysis of variance was used to compare the groups (G1 vs. G2 vs. G3 vs. G4). Tukey's method was used for post hoc analysis. All tests were 2-sided with statistical significance considered at p<0.05. All data analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, version 21.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA).

Results

Patients

This study was conducted between April 2020 and September 2022, and 200 patients were enrolled. During the study period, 40 patients were dropped from the study, leaving 160 patients to the analysis. The CONSORT diagram of patient enrollment is shown in Figure 2.

The patients were balanced in terms of baseline characteristics (Table 1) except for the urine culture. In Group 2, seven patients exhibited positive urine culture, whereas in the other groups, only one patient per group exhibited a positive urine culture. All patients with positive urine cultures received appropriate antibiotic treatment and were confirmed to have negative results before proceeding to the surgery.

Outcomes

Perioperative parameters and surgical outcomes are described in Table 2. For 15 patients (9.4%), the surgical procedure was finished with the placement of a ureteral stent only, as no UAS of any size could be inserted. Additionally, balloon dilation was performed in 4 patients due to stricture in the distal ureter.

Due to the substantial size of the stone burden, 27 patients needed multiple surgical sessions. Additionally, there were 5 other patients who required extracorporeal shock wave lithotripsy following their initial surgery.

The primary outcome is shown in Table 3 as the success rate of 12/14F UAS insertion during the surgery. By that measure, the proportion of successful 12/14F UAS insertion was

higher in the pre-operative tamsulosin group compared to the pre-operative placebo group (88.0% vs. 75.3%, p=0.038).

As for ureteral injury, it tended to be more common in the pre-operative tamsulosin group, although it was not statistically significant (30.0% vs. 15.3%, p=0.098). No patient had ureteral injury grade 3 or higher. On follow-up CT scans, none of the patients exhibited complications such as ureteral stricture.

No significant difference was observed between the groups receiving pre-operative tamsulosin and placebo in terms of operative time (38.3 minutes vs. 41.8 minutes, p=0.260) and stone-free rate (67.1% vs. 56.0%, p=0.154). However, both outcomes exhibited a trend favoring the pre-operative tamsulosin group. Two patients reported adverse events related to tamsulosin use. One patient complained of nausea, and the other had orthostatic hypotension. Both were compliant with their medications.

The USSQ scores are summarized in Table 4. No significant intergroup differences were found in the domains of the urinary index, pain index, sexual matters, or additional problems. The analysis of variance for general health (p=0.047) and work (p=0.035) found statistically significant results; however, post-hoc analysis did not reveal statistical significance.

Discussion

The results of this prospective randomized controlled study revealed that preoperative tamsulosin administration (0.4 mg daily for 1 week) increased the success rate of 12/14F UAS insertion during the surgery without significant differences with respect to ureteral injury, operative time, and stone-free rate. However, the effect of larger-sized UAS on stone-free rate may appear more evident in larger-sized stones.

The outcomes observed in this study support the use of tamsulosin before the surgery. It may enhance the success of large-sized UAS insertion. This notion finds alignment with Kaler et al.'s findings [8], who reported that pre-operative use of tamsulosin nearly doubled the 14/16F UAS insertion rate (87% vs. 43%). Erturhan et al. [9], on the other hand, set 9.5/11.5F UAS placement in the first attempt as their primary outcome. While the utilization of tamsulosin two weeks before surgery appeared advantageous (65.2% vs. 44%), statistical significance was not reached, possibly attributable to the limited sample size. This study focused on the accomplishment of 12/14F UAS insertion (not 16F) as the primary outcome, which might account for the relatively marginal variance in success rates.

Koo et al. reported that pre-operative tamsulosin 0.4 mg administration lowered the highest UAS insertion force during the surgery, using a homemade measurement device [16]. The authors used 12/14F UAS in their trial, and tamsulosin use lowered the UAS insertion force at the ureterovesical junction and proximal ureter in an Asian population. Although there is no study directly comparing ureter sizes between races, many endourologists may agree that Asian populations have relatively narrow ureters [17], in alignment with the narrow pelvic space in Asians compared to Mexicans or Caucasians [18]. In this study, none of the patients experienced severe ureteral injury (more than PULS grade 2). This result implies that

12/14F UAS insertion in an Asian population, regardless of pre-operative tamsulosin use, is relatively safe concerning ureteral injury. Also, pre-operative tamsulosin facilitated 12/14F UAS insertion without severe ureteral injury.

According to a recent literature review, two attempts are being made to facilitate UAS insertion: one is using an alpha-blocker, and the other is pre-stenting [19]. Although preoperative stenting is known to ease UAS placement, routine pre-stenting is controversial [20-22]. Pre-stenting requires additional procedures before the surgery. Also, ureteral stents are associated with bothersome urinary symptoms, including flank pain, discomfort, dysuria, urinary frequency, and hematuria [23, 24]. Instead, tamsulosin use before the surgery is relatively safe and without serious complications, as shown in the results.

In this study, USSQ scores were used to evaluate patient symptoms related to the ureteral stents in various domains, such as urinary function, pain, sexual matters, general health, and work. Stent-related symptoms were assessed on the day of stent removal, which was performed between postoperative day 7 and 14. And participants were divided into four groups to assess the effect of tamsulosin before and after the surgery and the possible effect of long-term tamsulosin use. However, the analysis of USSQ scores across the four groups did not reveal any statistically significant differences (Figure 3). This raises questions about the potential impact of tamsulosin on stent-related symptoms and patient well-being. Many studies have advocated the effect of alpha-blockers in relieving stent-related symptoms [11, 25], but in this study, the use of tamsulosin was not confirmed to improve these symptoms.

The discomfort caused by a ureteral stent is primarily known to be due to stimulation from the distal curl located within the bladder [26]. In the bladder, alpha-blockers primarily act on the bladder neck, reducing the contraction of the bladder outlet [27]. In this study, the use of alpha-blockers did not lead to a reduction of discomfort caused by ureteral stents, possibly because they had limited impact on the symptoms induced by the distal curl of ureteral stents.

This study is not without limitations. First, this study was conducted at a single center, and the participants were all from an Asian population. Second, the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic had a negative impact on this study, delaying patient enrollment and causing dropouts. In the oncologic field, the COVID-19 pandemic had a negative impact on patient enrollment, and more than half of ongoing clinical trials reported that the pandemic had a 'moderate' to 'high' impact on patient visits [28]. In this study, the COVID-19 pandemic led to a dropout of 31 patients during the study, ultimately resulting in an analysis involving 160 patients. Despite these limitations, this study marks as the first randomized, placebo-controlled prospective trial to investigate the potential effect of pre- and post-operative use of tamsulosin on the perioperative outcomes of retrograde intrarenal surgery.

Conclusion

This study demonstrates that pre-operative administration of tamsulosin (0.4mg daily for a week) enhances the success rate of 12/14F UAS insertion during retrograde intrarenal surgery. However, no significant differences were found in ureteral injury, operative time, or overall stone-free rate between the groups. Pre- and post-operative tamsulosin use did not significantly impact stent-related symptoms or patient comfort. Tamsulosin can be used as an effective modality before retrograde intrarenal surgery to aid the surgical process without compromising patient safety.

References

- 1. Takayasu H, Aso Y. Recent development for pyeloureteroscopy: guide tube method for its introduction into the ureter. J Urol. 1974;112(2):176-8.
- Breda A, Territo A, López-Martínez JM. Benefits and risks of ureteral access sheaths for retrograde renal access. Curr Opin Urol. 2016;26(1):70-5.
- 3. Ng YH, Somani BK, Dennison A, Kata SG, Nabi G, Brown S. Irrigant flow and intrarenal pressure during flexible ureteroscopy: the effect of different access sheaths, working channel instruments, and hydrostatic pressure. J Endourol. 2010;24(12):1915-20.
- 4. Tracy CR, Ghareeb GM, Paul CJ, Brooks NA. Increasing the size of ureteral access sheath during retrograde intrarenal surgery improves surgical efficiency without increasing complications. World J Urol. 2018;36(6):971-8.
- Lallas CD, Auge BK, Raj GV, Santa-Cruz R, Madden JF, Preminger GM. Laser doppler flowmetric determination of ureteral blood flow after ureteral access sheath placement. J Endourol. 2002;16(8):583-90.
- Traxer O, Thomas A. Prospective evaluation and classification of ureteral wall injuries resulting from insertion of a ureteral access sheath during retrograde intrarenal surgery. J Urol. 2013;189(2):580-4.
- 7. Aykanat C, Balci M, Senel C, Ozercan AY, Coser S, Aslan Y, et al. The impact of ureteral access sheath size on perioperative parameters and postoperative ureteral stricture in retrograde intrarenal surgery. J Endourol. 2022;36(8):1013-7.
- Kaler KS, Safiullah S, Lama DJ, Parkhomenko E, Okhunov Z, Ko YH, et al. Medical impulsive therapy (MIT): the impact of 1 week of preoperative tamsulosin on deployment of 16-French ureteral access sheaths without preoperative ureteral stent placement. World J Urol. 2018;36(12):2065-71.

- 9. Erturhan S, Bayrak Ö, Şen H, Yılmaz AE, Seçkiner İ. Can alpha blockers facilitate the placement of ureteral access sheaths in retrograde intrarenal surgery? Turk J Urol. 2019;45(2):108-12.
- Zhou SG, Lu JL, Hui JH. Comparing efficacy of α1D-receptor antagonist naftopidil and α1A/D-receptor antagonist tamsulosin in management of distal ureteral stones. World J Urol. 2011;29(6):767-71.
- 11. Dellis AE, Papatsoris AG, Keeley FX, Jr., Bamias A, Deliveliotis C, Skolarikos AA. Tamsulosin, Solifenacin, and their combination for the treatment of stent-related symptoms: a randomized controlled study. J Endourol. 2017;31(1):100-9.
- 12. Park J, Yoo C, Han DH, Shin DW. A critical assessment of the effects of Tamsulosin and Solifenacin as monotherapies and as a combination therapy for the treatment of ureteral stent-related symptoms: a 2×2 factorial randomized trial. World J Urol. 2015;33(11):1833-40.
- Yakoubi R, Lemdani M, Monga M, Villers A, Koenig P. Is there a role for α-blockers in ureteral stent related symptoms? A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Urol. 2011;186(3):928-34.
- 14. Kwon JK, Cho KS, Oh CK, Kang DH, Lee H, Ham WS, et al. The beneficial effect of alpha-blockers for ureteral stent-related discomfort: systematic review and network metaanalysis for Alfuzosin versus Tamsulosin versus placebo. BMC Urol. 2015;15:55.
- 15. Schoenthaler M, Wilhelm K, Kuehhas FE, Farin E, Bach C, Buchholz N, et al. Postureteroscopic lesion scale: a new management modified organ injury scale-evaluation in 435 ureteroscopic patients. J Endourol. 2012;26(11):1425-30.
- 16. Koo KC, Yoon JH, Park NC, Lee HS, Ahn HK, Lee KS, et al. The impact of preoperative α -adrenergic antagonists on ureteral access sheath insertion force and the upper limit of

force required to avoid ureteral mucosal injury: a randomized controlled study. J Urol. 2018;199(6):1622-30.

- Cho SY, Lee JY, Shin DG, Seo IY, Yoo S, Park HK. Evaluation of performance parameters of the disposable flexible ureterorenoscope (LITHOVUE) in patients with renal stones: a prospective, observational, single-arm, multicenter study. Scientific Reports. 2018;8(1):9795.
- Zárate-Kalfópulos B, Romero-Vargas S, Otero-Cámara E, Correa VC, Reyes-Sánchez A. Differences in pelvic parameters among Mexican, Caucasian, and Asian populations. J Neurosurg Spine. 2012;16(5):516-9.
- 19. De Coninck V, Somani B, Sener ET, Emiliani E, Corrales M, Juliebø-Jones P, et al. Ureteral access sheaths and its use in the future: a comprehensive update based on a literature review. J Clin Med. 2022;11(17):5128.
- 20. Fahmy O, Shsm H, Lee C, Khairul-Asri MG. Impact of preoperative stenting on the outcome of flexible ureterorenoscopy for upper urinary tract urolithiasis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Urol Int. 2022;106(7):679-87.
- 21. Dessyn JF, Balssa L, Chabannes E, Jacquemet B, Bernardini S, Bittard H, et al. Flexible ureterorenoscopy for renal and proximal ureteral stone in patients with previous ureteral stenting: impact on stone-free rate and morbidity. J Endourol. 2016;30(10):1084-8.
- 22. Lee MH, Lee IJ, Kim TJ, Lee SC, Jeong CW, Hong SK, et al. The effect of short-term preoperative ureteral stenting on the outcomes of retrograde intrarenal surgery for renal stones. World J Urol. 2019;37(7):1435-40.
- Joshi HB, Stainthorpe A, MacDonagh RP, Keeley FX, Jr., Timoney AG, Barry MJ. Indwelling ureteral stents: evaluation of symptoms, quality of life and utility. J Urol. 2003;169(3):1065-9.

- 24. Joshi HB, Newns N, Stainthorpe A, MacDonagh RP, Keeley FX, Jr., Timoney AG. Ureteral stent symptom questionnaire: development and validation of a multidimensional quality of life measure. J Urol. 2003;169(3):1060-4.
- 25. Navanimitkul N, Lojanapiwat B. Efficacy of tamsulosin 0.4 mg/day in relieving double-J stent-related symptoms: a randomized controlled study. J Int Med Res. 2010;38(4):1436-41.
- 26. Fischer KM, Louie M, Mucksavage P. ureteral stent discomfort and its management. Curr Urol Rep. 2018;19(8):64.
- 27. Nishimune A, Yoshiki H, Uwada J, Anisuzzaman AS, Umada H, Muramatsu I. Phenotype pharmacology of lower urinary tract α(1)-adrenoceptors. Br J Pharmacol. 2012;165(5):1226-34.
- 28. Upadhaya S, Yu JX, Oliva C, Hooton M, Hodge J, Hubbard-Lucey VM. Impact of COVID-19 on oncology clinical trials. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2020;19(6):376-7.

	Group 1	Group 2	Group 3	Group 4
	(n=40)	(n=43)	(n=36)	(n=41)
Age (years)	56.5 ± 10.0	55.9 ± 10.9	54.3 ± 10.8	53.1 ± 12.1
Female (n, %)	13 (32.5)	14 (32.6)	9 (25.0)	12 (29.3)
BUN (mg/dL)	15.8 ± 4.1	14.6 ± 3.2	15.0 ± 4.3	15.4 ± 4.7
Serum creatinine	0.9 ± 0.2	0.9 ± 0.2	0.9 ± 0.2	1.2 ± 1.9
(mg/dL)				
Urine pH	6.2 ± 0.9	6.4 ± 0.8	5.7 ± 0.7	6.0 ± 0.8
Urine culture (n, %)				
No growth	31 (77.5)	30 (69.8)	32 (88.9)	40 (97.6)
Positive	1 (2.5)	7 (16.3)	1 (2.8)	1 (2.4)
Others	8 (20.0)	6 (14.0)	3 (8.3)	0 (0.0)
Stone laterality (n, %)				
Right	19 (47.5)	20 (46.5)	20 (55.6)	19 (46.3)
Left	21 (52.5)	23 (53.5)	16 (44.4)	22 (53.7)
Stone size (cm)	1.5 ± 0.9	1.6 ± 0.7	1.8 ± 1.0	1.9 ± 0.9
Baseline USSQ	15.3 ± 2.9	15.9 ± 2.9	15.0 ± 3.2	15.2 ± 4.1

Table 1. Demographics and pre-operative parameters^a

^aPlus-minus values are means ± standard deviation. BUN denotes blood urea nitrogen and USSQ Ureteral Stent Symptoms Questionnaire.

^	Group 1	Group 2	Group 3	Group 4
	(n=40)	(n=43)	(n=36)	(n=41)
Operative time (min)	34.1 ± 18.4	39.3 ± 17.4	37.1 ± 16.7	43.7 ± 20.1
Total laser time (min)	14.5 ± 16.3	15.4 ± 13.7	17.1 ± 17.5	20.5 ± 17.3
UAS used (n, %)				
DJ stenting only	1 (2.5)	2 (4.7)	3 (8.3)	5 (12.2)
Balloon dilation	0 (0.0)	1 (2.3)	1 (2.8)	2 (4.9)
10/12F	2 (5.0)	1 (2.3)	2 (5.6)	0 (0.0)
11/13F	2 (5.0)	1 (2.3)	1 (2.8)	5 (12.2)
12/14F	35 (87.5)	38 (88.4)	29 (80.6)	29 (70.7)
Ureteral injury ^b (n, %)				
Grade 0	26 (68.4)	30 (73.2)	27 (84.4)	31 (86.1)
Grade 1	7 (18.4)	10 (24.4)	5 (15.6)	2 (5.6)
Grade 2	5 (13.2)	1 (2.4)	0 (0.0)	3 (8.3)
Grade 3,4,5	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
Stone-free state ^c (n, %)	30 (76.9)	25 (58.1)	22 (62.9)	20 (50.0)
Length of stay (days)	2.0 ± 0.5	2.4 ± 1.2	2.2 ± 0.6	2.3 ± 1.1
Adjuvant treatment (n, %)				
Medication ^d	7 (17.5)	6 (14.0)	11 (30.6)	7 (17.1)
ESWL	1 (2.5)	1 (2.3)	2 (5.6)	1 (2.4)
Multisession surgery	5 (12.5)	6 (13.9)	7 (19.5)	9 (23.0)
Adverse events related to	1 (2.5)	1 (2.3)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
tamsulosin use ^e (n, %)				

Table 2. Perioperative parameters and surgical outcomes^a

^aPlus-minus values are means ± standard deviation. UAS denotes ureteral access sheath, DJ double J, F French, and ESWL extracorporeal shock wave lithotripsy.

^bGrade 0 means no injury, 1 superficial mucosal lesion, 2 submucosal lesion, 3 transection less than 50%, 4 transection more than 50%, and 5 complete transection.

^cStone-free state means either the absence of stones or clinically insignificant residual

fragments (diameters less than 4mm) on follow-up CT scans.

^dMostly urine alkalinizing agents such as potassium citrate.

^eOne patient complained of nausea, and the other orthostatic hypotension.

	Pre-operative	Pre-operative	<i>p</i> -value
	tamsulosin	placebo	
	(n=83)	(n=77)	
UAS (n, %)			0.038
14F	73 (88.0)	58 (75.3)	
Failed ^b	10 (12.0)	19 (24.7)	
Ureteral injury ^c (n, %)			0.098
0	56 (70.0)	61 (84.7)	
1	18 (22.5)	8 (11.1)	
2	6 (7.5)	3 (4.2)	
Operative time (min)	36.8 ± 18.0	40.6 ± 18.7	0.242
Stone-free state ^d (n, %)	55 (67.1)	42 (56.0)	0.154

Table 3. Comparison of outcomes between pre-operative tamsulosin and placebo groups^a

^aPlus-minus values are means \pm standard deviation. F denotes French and UAS ureteral access sheath.

^bInvolves double J stenting only, need for balloon dilation, and UAS size less than 14F. ^cGrade 0 means no injury, 1 superficial mucosal lesion, 2 submucosal lesion, 3 transection less than 50%, 4 transection more than 50%, and 5 complete transection. No patients had ureteral injury 3 or greater.

^dStone-free state means either the absence of stones or clinically insignificant residual fragments (diameters less than 4mm) on follow-up CT scans.

	Group 1	Group 2	Group 3	Group 4	<i>p</i> -value
	(n=40)	(n=43)	(n=36)	(n=41)	
Urinary index	28.4 ± 6.3	26.0 ± 6.4	29.3 ± 6.8	26.5 ± 7.9	0.110
Pain index	20.5 ± 6.5	17.6 ± 6.2	20.9 ± 6.0	20.0 ± 6.1	0.185
General health	14.9 ± 5.1	13.0 ± 4.4	15.2 ± 5.5	12.6 ± 5.0	0.047
Work performance	8.0 ± 3.5	6.6 ± 2.8	8.4 ± 3.1	6.3 ± 2.6	0.035
Sexual matters	3.0 ± 0.0	3.3 ± 0.5	3.8 ± 0.8	3.3 ± 1.0	0.523
Additional problem	5.6 ± 2.3	5.1 ± 1.4	5.5 ± 1.7	5.2 ± 1.7	0.511

Table 4. USSQ score at the time of stent removal^a

^aPlus-minus values are means \pm standard deviation. USSQ denotes Ureteral Stent Symptoms Questionnaire. Statistically significant results are presented in bold, but posthoc analysis did not prove difference between each groups.

Figure 1. Study protocol



USSQ denotes Ureteral Stent Symptoms Questionnaire, KUB kidney-ureter-bladder, and CT computed tomography. USSQ scores were evaluated before the stent removal.

Figure 2. CONSORT diagram



G1~4 denotes group 1~4.



Figure 3. Comparison of USSQ scores among the four groups

USSQ denotes Ureteral Stent Symptoms Questionnaire and G1~4 denotes group 1~4.

Supplemental Appendix 1. Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Inclusion criteria

- 1. Patients between 20 and 80 years old who are planning to undergo ureteroscopic surgery due to unilateral renal or ureteric stones
- Sum of all the stone sizes in unilateral renal or ureteric stones is between 5mm and 4cm
- Patients who voluntarily decided to participate in this clinical study and signed a written informed consent form

Exclusion criteria

- 1. Patients with a history of allergic reactions to tamsulosin or its components
- 2. Patients diagnosed with orthostatic hypotension
- 3. Patients with a severe liver disorder
- 4. Patients with galactose intolerance, Lapp lactose deficiency, or glucose-galactose malabsorption
- 5. Patients with severe renal impairment (KDIGO CKD grade 3 or higher)
- 6. Patients with a history of renal ureter cancer or bladder cancer
- 7. Patients with a history of ureteral stenosis
- Patients with febrile urinary tract infection (if there was evidence of fever above 38 degrees Celsius and urinary tract infection)
- 9. Patients who have a single kidney
- 10. Patients with a history of using tamsulosin, calcium channel blockers, or steroids

within the last 4 weeks

- 11. Patients with a history of previous intrapelvic surgery or radiation
- 12. Women who may be pregnant
- 13. Breastfeeding mothers
- 14. Patient with a ureteral stent inserted before surgery
- 15. Patients taking warfarin or H2 receptor blockers
- 16. Patients taking CYP3A4 or CYP2D6 inhibitors
- 17. Patients with an active disease judged by the researcher to be unsuitable for participation in the study

국문요약

서론

최근 Ureteral access sheath (UAS)는 요관경 하 결석 제거 수술에서 널리 사용되고 있다. UAS 는 상부 요로에 쉽게 접근할 수 있을 뿐만 아니라 신우 내 압력을 감소시키고 요관경 시야를 원활하게 확보할 수 있다. 본 연구는 수술 전 탐스로신의 복용이 14 French (F) UAS 삽입의 성공에 미치는 영향과 수술 전후 탐스로신이 요관 부목 관련 불편감에 미치는 영향을 조사하고자 하였다.

대상 및 방법

본 연구는 서울아산병원에서 요관경 하 신장 결석 수술을 시행받은 200 명의 환자를 대상으로 한 단일 기관, 무작위 대조, 이중맹검 시험으로 진행되었다. 환자들은 수술 1 주 전부터 요관 부목 제거 시점까지 탐스로신 0.4 밀리그램 혹은 위약을 복용하였다. 환자들은 총 4 개의 그룹으로 무작위 배정되었으며, 1 그룹은 연구 기간 내내 탐스로신을 복용하였으며, 2 그룹은 수술 전 탐스로신, 수술 후 위약을 복용하였고, 3 그룹은 수술 전 위약, 수술 후 탐스로신을 복용하였고, 4 그룹은 수술 전후로 위약을 복용하였다. 요관 부목 관련 증상의 평가는 설문 조사를 이용하여 수술 후 7 일에서 14 일 사이에 완료하였다.

결과

최종적으로 총 160 명의 환자가 분석 대상에 포함되었다. 평균 연령은 55.0 세였으며 남성 112 명, 여성 48 명이었다. 수술 전 탐스로신을 복용한 그룹에서 12/14F UAS 배치의 성공률이 수술 전 위약을 복용한 그룹에 비교하여 유의하게 높았다 (88.% vs. 75.3%, *p*=0.038). 수술 전후 탐스로신의 복용과 요관 부목과 관련된 증상 간의 유의한 차이는 없었다.

25

결론

본 연구는 탐스로신의 수술 전 투여가 큰 사이즈의 UAS 배치에 도움을 주는 것을 확인하였고, 수술 전후 탐스로신의 복용이 요관 부목과 관련된 불편감을 유의하게 완화시켜주지 않는 것을 확인하였다.